IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEREMIAH MARTEL RODGERS,

Appellant

VS.

CASE NO. SC SC01-185 Cir. No. 98-274-CFA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

This is the direct appeal from Jeremiah Rodgers' conviction and sentence of death in the Circuit Court in and for Santa Rosa County, Florida. The record on appeal consists of five (V) volumes of pleadings and orders (numbered with Roman numerals), twenty-seven (27) volumes of transcripts (numbered with Arabic numerals), and four (4) supplemental volumes. Standards of review are noted in each argument in compliance with Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.210(b)(5).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Jeremiah Rodgers pled guilty to being an accessary to the murder of Jennifer Robinson.¹ The jury recommended the death penalty by a vote of 9-3. The

¹Appellant was allowed not to agree to the State's supposed factual basis for the plea. Vol. 1, p. 106. He also pled guilty to conspiracy to commit murder,

sentencing judge found that Jeremiah, who was 21 years old at the time of the offense:

- a.) was remorseful and sorrowful for the offense (Vol. V, p. 932);
- b.) suffered from life-long, crippling mental illness (Vol. V, pp. 921, 931 ["long and extensive history of his mental illness;" "the record is replete;" "It is uncontroverted"]); and
- c.) had been relentlessly sexually and physical abused as a child, in an "abhorrent" environment (Vol. V, pp. 927 930) ("substantial evidence before the Court regarding Defendant's background that would mitigate against imposition of the death penalty").

However, the Court found that two statutory aggravating factors outweighed this mitigation. Jeremiah and his co-defendant, Jonathan Lawrence, had been convicted of two other crimes of violence. One involved the attempted murder of Leighton Smitherman, a crime for which Jeremiah was found guilty in a trial in Santa Rosa County conducted shortly before the trial herein.² The other involved the murder of Lawrence's cousin, Justin Livingston, a crime to which Jeremiah had pled guilty. Vol. V, pp. 915-917. The crimes happened days apart, and shortly before the crime in this

giving alcohol to a person under twenty-one, and (as a principal) to the mutilation and abuse of a dead human body.

²That case is on appeal to the District Court of Appeal for the First District of Florida. *See* Argument VI, *infra*.

case. These prior convictions were found by the judge in support of the statutory aggravating factor under Section 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1997) (conviction of prior violent felony). The second aggravating circumstance found was that the crime was committed in a cold, calculated, and premeditated manner. *Id.*, (5)(i).

Appellant argues in this appeal, *inter alia*, that the lower court erred in the process it adopted for assessing (and allowing the jurors to assess) Lawrence's and Jeremiah's relative culpability. Appellant also contends that the lower court failed to accord sufficient weight to the evidence that Lawrence was primarily responsible for the episodes.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

This case involves tragedies on a epic scale. One struggles to avert the eyes from the chilling crime and from Jeremiah's tortured being. A focused assessment of this difficult evidence forces the conclusion that Jeremiah is the most mitigated person ever to come before this Court, and that the aggravation was not primarily his doing.

I. Jeremiah Rodgers' Short, Tortured, Perverse "Upbringing"

A. 5 years old—"there is something pretty obviously wrong because he is so young"

A confidential psychological evaluation was conducted on Jeremiah when he was **five** years old and in *kindergarten*. V. 11, p. 1922. Kindergarten was the first

time that "anyone outside the home got a good look at him," *id.*, and it is "really unusual" for a kindergarten teacher to refer a child of that age for serious psychological evaluation: "it means there is something pretty obviously wrong because he is so young." *Id.* (Angela Mason, licensed social worker). What was wrong was how Jeremiah was being treated.

Jeanelle Spoon Rodgers became pregnant by Steven Rodgers at age **14.**³ They married, and their daughter, Jeremiah's older sister Tamica, was born in January 1976. Steven and Jeanelle intermittently lived together, and Jeanelle became pregnant again. Jeremiah was born in April, 1977, in Orlando, Florida.

Jeanelle "moved" to Pensacola with Tamica and Jeremiah. She wrote Steven's mother, Mary Pruitt, and told Pruitt to come and get the children or she would "give them away." Pruitt testified that she drove to Pensacola and picked up Tamica and Jeremiah. Vol. 10, at 1753. When Pruitt arrived, *Jeanelle had no diapers, baby bottles, formula, or baby blanket—nothing to take care of the children*, and no baby

³As will be shown, by the time Jeremiah was fourteen, Jeanelle, his mother, had coerced him into being her full-time "lover" by plying him with alcohol and other substances (like marijuana laced with **formaldehyde**, Vol. 11, p. 1960). One of Jeremiah's first memories is being sexually abused by his mother at the age of **3**.

⁴This was not a "move" in the traditional sense. Jeanelle simply always traveled, staying short periods of time with friends or relatives, and did not really live anywhere. Tamica testified that "we never really had our own place except for the last place we lived before I moved to my dad's" at age 10. Vol. 11, p. 1848.

toys. Id. at 1754. Jeremiah was six weeks old. Id. at 1753.

Thereafter, Jeanelle would occasionally pick-up Tamica and Jeremiah and take them wherever she happened to be going, and then, if they were lucky, she would return the babies to Pruitt. *Id.* at 1755. On at least one of these perilous treks, Jeanelle attempted to hitchhike to Orlando to leave Jeremiah and Tamica for adoption—just drop them off on the doorstep (literally) of children's services. When Pruitt learned of this planned, total, abandonment, she sought and obtained legal custody of the children. *Id.* at 1759. She continued to let Jeanelle take them away, however.

Despite their inability to care for any children, Steven and Jeanelle had another child, Elijah, in 1979. Jeanelle was 17 or 18 years old. Things just got worse. Steven would show up for a few days and then leave for months at a time, providing no support, even during all three pregnancies. Vol. 10, p. 1629. When Jeanelle and Steven were together, they drank alcohol and smoked marijuana all the time in front of the children. *Id.* at 1630.⁶ Steven would get drunk and beat Jeanelle with the children

⁵One of Pruitt's relatives picked Jeanelle, Steve, Tamica, and Jeremiah up at the side of the road, learned of the abandonment road trip, convinced Jeanelle and Steven to "give her the kids," and took them to Pruitt. Vol. 10, p. 1759.

⁶Tamica testified at sentencing that Jeanelle smoked pot and got drunk all the time. Zack, Jeremiah's step-brother born a little later, testified that his first memory of Jeanelle was her smoking marijuana from a "bong" in the living room, which he did not know was illegal until he started going to school. *See* section B, *infra*.

in the room, watching, id. at 1631, leaving bruises "quite often." Id. at 1728, 1740.

David Waldrup and his wife Faye knew Jeanelle and witnessed first hand the chaotic, life-threatening, and criminal environs her infants endured. For instance, Jeanelle came over to the Waldrup's home and asked for a ride to the welfare office in Orlando "to take Elijah down there and drop him off on the doorstep." Vol. 10, p. 1632. Diane told Jeanelle not to do that, and Jeanelle said "well, you just take him then." *Id.* at 1638. The Waldrups agreed to adopt Elijah, who was three months old, *id.* at 1728, so long as Jeanelle and Steve would leave them all alone. Jeanelle agreed, and Steven, who was not to be found, "didn't give a damn." *Id.* at 1637. The Waldrups raised Elijah as their son from then on, *id.* at 1638,7 and his life was markedly different from Jeremiah's.

Thereafter, Jeanelle was constantly back and forth between Pensacola, Orlando, and other places unknown, and her occasional visits with Tamica and Jeremiah were very disruptive. When she would take them from Pruitt, they might stay anywhere.⁸

⁷The Waldrups moved with Elijah to California, and received a letter from Jeanelle saying that she wanted to give Tamica and Jeremiah up for adoption also. Vol. 10, p. 1643. They did not respond to this. They later moved back to the Pensacola area with Elijah.

⁸Tamica testified that during these infant years she and Jeremiah were simply nomadic: "there was no one person that I was living with for a long period of time." Vol. 11, p. 1847. They never knew where they might sleep. "On the floor[O]n the couch ...Just, you know, depending on where we were at." Vol. 11, p.

Jeanelle could not care for them, i.e., once when Jeremiah was a toddler Pruitt got him from Jeanelle and he was very sick. Pruitt took him to a doctor, and the doctor immediately admitted him to the hospital with pneumonia. Vol. 10, p. 1762.

On one occasion Jeanelle weakly tried to get custody back from Pruitt by saying she was married to a man whose name Pruitt could not remember. Pruitt refused, because she "didn't like the looks of the person." Vol. 10, p. 1760.9 Jeanelle then married a man named Ronnie Walker. Pruitt allowed Jeanelle to have custody at that point, 10 but Jeremiah and Tamica continued to live for long stretches of time with Pruitt. *Id.* at 1764. Jeanelle and Walker then had a son, Zack.

B. Age 5 - 9: "something is very deeply wrong"

Jeremiah was promoted from the second and third grades of school, but he did not pass them. "He wasn't able to focus and concentrate in school, and they moved him up, even though he was not academically ready." Vol. 11, p. 1925 (Angela Mason). Then he was placed in a severely emotionally disturbed class, "[a]

^{1849 (}Tamica's testimony). Letters written by Jeanelle during this time document this rootless existence. Vol. 10, pp 1733-34.

⁹According to Mr. Waldrup who adopted Elijah, the suitor's's name was Carlson. Jeanelle married him for the sole purpose of using his money and she only stayed with him for two or three days and then left him. Vol. 10, p. 1748.

¹⁰Walker was supposed to be Zack's father, but Pruitt doubted that he was. Jeanelle constantly told Zack that Walker was not his father. Vol. 10, 1761, 1824.

classification that is most profound." *Id.* at 1928. "Sometimes a child will be placed in Emotionally Handicapped; if that's not sufficient, that's sort of the end of the line. They might [as here] be placed in a special school for severely and emotionally disturbed." *Id.* at 1928. This means "they have tried everything else."

This is not about behavior—this is way beyond behavior ... this means something is very deeply wrong. He just couldn't function in the classroom. He didn't respond to even a small class setting with a lot of attention. *Id.* at 1929 (Angela Mason).

Jeremiah's home life between the age of five and nine was hellish. He lived with his older sister, Tamica, and his younger step-brother, Zack.¹¹ Jeanelle stayed drunk and stoned, beat the kids,¹² and openly engaged in sex acts with various people the children did not know.¹³ They never stayed in one place for long--"every time it came time to pay the bills, that's when we moved at least once a month, it felt like." Vol 11, p. 1827 (Zack's testimony). They never had money, Jeanelle never kept a job, and

¹¹Zack lived with Jeanelle and Ronnie Walker until he was about two years old, and then Ronnie Walker left. After Zack was two, Jeremiah and Tamica lived with Zack and Jeanelle "sometimes," until Zack was dropped off on Walker's doorstep by Jeanelle when Zack was five or six years old. Vol 11, p. 1821. Like Jeremiah's brother Elijah, Zack thus escaped from Jeanelle; sadly, Jeremiah did not.

¹²Jeanelle had other forms of torture for the children also. For example, she made them wear soiled underwear around on their heads as punishment for soiling them. Vol. 11, p. 1843; *see also id* at 1829.

¹³Jeanelle would have sex with men while eight year old Tamica was in the bed. Vol. 11, p 1857.

they never owned a reliable car. Vol 11, p. 1849 (Tamica's testimony).

Whatever child care-taking occurred fell to Tamica, beginning at about age 8. *Id.* at 1850. When she failed at child raising–cooking, cleaning, getting the boys to school–she would be "smacked in the face" and beaten with a belt. *Id.* at 1852. Jeanelle was much worse to Jeremiah. When Jeanelle beat him she "couldn't stop" and Jeremiah "would have belt bruise marks, like, on his back, on his butt, and on his legs, and it would bruise." *Id.* (Tamica's testimony)¹⁴ "I didn't get it like that," Tamica said. *Id.*¹⁵

Jeanelle "drank and smoked a lot of reefer, definitely," Tamica testified. Vol. 11, p. 1857. "She was drunk all the time." *Id.* Zack's earliest memory of his mother is her "smoking out of a bong in the living room in an old trailer with a bunch of people partying." *Id.* at 1822. She smoked marijuana "quite frequently," and Zack "didn't even know it was illegal until I went to school." *Id.* Jeanelle was constantly ("lots") doing drugs and partying with different men ("a lot of different ones") in the

¹⁴Jeanelle would stay sober until 10:00 a.m., and then she would get drunk, beat the children, and yell angrily at everyone. Vol. 11, at 1828 - 1825.

¹⁵Tamica did not get beaten like Jeremiah, did not get raped repeatedly by her parent, had a positive experience at school, where she got good grades, and was doted over and loved by Pruitt. Elijah left the environment when he was an infant, as did Zack. Jeremiah is different from his sister and his brothers because they "didn't get it" the way Jeremiah did.

presence of the children. *Id.* at 1823, 1830-31.¹⁶ She went to bars and took the children with her, or she just left them at home alone unsupervised. The kids often awakened in the middle of the night with no adults in the house–they were at a bar. Vol. 11, pp. 1859-60. Tamica remembers her mom being arrested for alcohol related offenses on some of the evenings when the children were left at home alone. *Id.*

At age nine, Jeremiah went to live with his father Steve. One year later Tamica did the same. Before that she had seen her father Steven once, and he was drunk. *Id.* at 1854.¹⁷

C. Ages 9 - 13: Self-mutilation, predator mother, Prozac, and hospitalization: "he needs more mental health care than jail time"

Tamica reports that when Jeremiah was 10 years old he was in deep psychological turmoil and was "hurting himself." Vol 11, p. 1888. "He put tacks in his arms. He would take, like, a knife and make marks on his arms, just – just make lines – cuts on his arms." *Id.* "And then shortly after that, everything just kind of led

¹⁶Zack testified that Jeanelle's boyfriends "beat her, and called her names" in front of him. Vol. 11, p. 1829. Numerous police reports document that Jeanelle was beaten by different men in the home when the children were there. Vol. 11, p. 1955, 1958.

¹⁷When she lived for the next year with Steve, he "would come home extremely drunk–falling over drunk. Couldn't stand up hardly, and my step-mom would have to help him eat, take a shower, whatever. For the whole complete year, that's all I knew of my dad, pretty much." Vol. 11, p. 1882.

– you, know – he started leaving the house, going out the window leaving. Things like that." *Id.* p. 1889. Jeremiah was drinking alcohol and "huffing gasoline." *Id.* at 1889. He would try to flee whenever he could, sometimes taking his father's car. He committed petty crimes and would get locked up in the detention facility. *Id.* at 1883.

When Jeremiah was 11 or twelve years old, he was hospitalized at Laurel Oaks for depression and prescribed Prozac, which Steven did "not fill[] continuously." Defense Exhibit 54; *see also* Vol. 11, pp. 1947 (testimony of Angela Mason). Testing at school indicated that he was in the "clinical range for internalized behavior," and he was designated for "severely emotionally disturbed" placement. Defense Exhibit 30D. Jeremiah deteriorated. West Lake Hospital in Longwood, Florida, is a psychiatric hospital. Jeremiah was admitted on October 2, 1990, at **age 13**, with an admitting diagnosis of **major depression**. He was suicidal. Defense Exhibit 31. "Patient appears to have a **longstanding problem** of about 4-5 years that was **not treated** at any point." *Id.* (emphasis added).²⁰

¹⁸According to David Foy, a defense psychologist and expert in such tests, this testing revealed that "he is ill." Vol. 12, p. 2059.

¹⁹School records from when Jeremiah was **eleven** years old document that he had admitted to suicidal ideas.

²⁰"[A] significant stressor occurred 3 months ago in which the patient's uncle committed suicide by shooting himself in the head with a gun, after he killed someone else." Defense Exhibit 31.

He was kept at this psychiatric facility for 2 ½ weeks. He "discussed his history of being physically/sexually/emotionally abused by his biological mother as well as her husbands and boyfriends," Defense Ex. 31A, and described "severe parental abuse by mother ... severe beatings and her wanting him to take drugs." *Id.* (emphasis added). "He had made a police report on his mother due to the mother selling marijuana and cocaine." *Id.* His father confirmed that "there was possible physical abuse by mother when he was living with mother." *Id.*²¹ Psychiatric staff diagnosed the *13 year old* with Post-traumatic stress disorder, and other ailments. The staff medicated him and *placed him in four point restraints* because he was so traumatized. Staff again prescribed **Prozac** for depression, and also Ativan for trauma. *Id.*

Jeremiah was discharged in October, 1990. Within a few weeks he was placed in a juvenile facility after fleeing his parents and going into the residence of one of his mom's male friend's, resulting in a charge of burglary. It was refuge, however, not property, that Jeremiah had sought (nothing was stolen)—he was afraid of "home."

Staff prepared a social history that detailed the corruption, sexual abuse, and betrayal Jeremiah faced on a daily basis, and from which he had fled. The staff

²¹Jeremiah reported to Angela Mason that "his mother sexually abused him until age nine when he went to live with his dad." Vol. 11, p. 1940-41.

reported that Jeremiah's "mother gave him beer when he was 2 years old" and that "Jeremiah states that his mother started sexually abusing him at age 3. Client reports that he never told anyone because his mother would threaten him." "His father has threatened to shoot him and he put an unloaded gun to the client's head." "Jeremiah reports that he runs away to avoid beatings."

While Jeremiah was depressed about being in JDC ... he said he would rather be there than with his father. Client said he is afraid of his father." "Jeremiah said he attempted suicide 5 times (on different occasions) and has the marks on his wrist where he cut with a razor. Client said he *is not allowed to talk at home*. His father decides when Jeremiah can talk. According to Jeremiah, when he was 5 years old, he stopped talking for several months. At age 8, he did the same thing.²² He would communicate in school by writing letters to his teachers." The report recited that Jeremiah was supposed to be being treated with prescribed medications for mental illness, but that the prescriptions were not getting filled. Defense Exhibit 54.

On December 5, 1990, personnel at the Children's Home Society of Florida recommended to the juvenile court that Jeremiah receive psychological counseling at

²²Alexithymia is the loss of words and symbols to communicate with others and is seen when children are so overwhelmed by trauma that they lose semantic construct for feelings and emotion.

an in-house facility, the Grove. They reported that Jeremiah was severely emotionally disturbed, that he had been diagnosed with Dysthymia (chronic depression), that "both of his parents are polysubstance abusers," and that "his mother is a severe and chronic alcoholic who is currently serving a five year sentence for repeated DUI offenses." Defense Exhibit 51. Because Jeremiah clearly "needs inpatient treatment," *id.* (emphasis added), the Court sent him to the Grove.

Soon -- on December 20th, 1990 -- Jeremiah knocked a hole in the wall of a bathroom at the Grove. He had locked himself in the bathroom. When he came out he stated that it was better to kick the wall than to kick a person. He was charged with criminal mischief, but the arresting police officer opted for a diversion-type program, observing that "I believe the subject has made a mistake. **He needs more** mental health care than jail time." Defense Exhibit 53 (emphasis added).

Over the next several months, Jeremiah continued to free-fall. Social service agencies closed his file in September, 1991, when he was 14 years old. A discharge summary noted that outpatient individual and family therapy, as well as medication monitoring at Florida Psychiatric Services, had been funded. But "these services were not utilized by the family after the 2nd or 3rd visit." Defense Ex. 50. "Thus, little progress was realized in this family," Defense Exhibit 50, even though Jeremiah kept telling people that his mother was molesting him. The conclusion of the social services

agencies in 1991 was that: "Jeremiah has been abused, physically and sexually....His current relationship with his mother is pathological." Defense Exhibit 50.

D. Age 14: Continuous Rape by mom; re-offending to stay away from home

This pathology was not addressed by anyone.²³ And it inevitably and predictably worsened. As Jeremiah told many, many, people his mother repeatedly (at least ten times) had full sexual relations with him when he was fourteen years old, i.e., raped him. At that time he was living with his father and he would travel to visit his mother. She always pressured him to have sex with her; he could not do that unless he was intoxicated from drugs. So she supplied him drugs, he ingested them, and they had oral sex and full sexual intercourse. Vol. 11, p. 1959; *see also* Defense

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