### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JEREMIAH MARTEL RODGERS,

\_\_\_\_\_/

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO SCO1-185

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR SANTA ROSA COUNTY, FLORIDA

## ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL

CURTIS M. FRENCH SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 291692

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300, ext. 4584

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

#

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

-66-

court committed no abuse of discretion in denying Rodgers' motion to withdraw his guilty plea. <u>Robinson v. State</u>, 761 So.2d 269, 274 (Fla. 1999) ("In order to show cause why the plea should be withdrawn, mere allegations are not enough; the defense must offer proof that the plea was not voluntarily and intelligently entered."); <u>Williams v. State</u>, 821 So.2d 1267, 1268 (Fla. 2<sup>nd</sup> DCA 2002) (no abuse of discretion in denying motion to withdraw guilty plea where defendant offered no proof of involuntariness).

#### ISSUE VI

# THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY WEIGHED RODGERS' CONVICTION IN THE SMITHERMAN ATTEMPTED MURDER IN AGGRAVATION

Rodgers contends here that, because the trial judge originally assigned to this case and to the Smitherman attempted murder prosecution presided over the Smitherman case after (according to Rodgers) improperly failing to grant Rodgers' motion to disqualify, the conviction in the Smitherman case is invalid, and the prior violent felony aggravator finding in this case is consequently also invalid.

Then Circuit Judge Kenneth Bell originally presided over both prosecutions. On the eve of the Smitherman trial, Judge Bell denied a motion to disqualify filed by Rodgers (IIIR 562), on the grounds that it was legally insufficient (IIIR 598) and thereafter presided over the Smitherman trial (Vols 24-27).

-67-

Rodgers filed a Writ of Prohibition in the First District Court of Appeal. The Court denied the writ as moot with regard to the Smitherman trial, which had already occurred, but granted the writ as to the capital trial (IVR 616).

Based on these facts, Rodgers argues that, given the action of the First District Court of Appeal, his conviction in the Smitherman case is void and that the prior violent felony aggravator found in this case is invalid. In addition, Rodgers argues that Judge Bell erred in denying the motion to disqualify and this error is sufficient by itself to require reversal, notwithstanding that Judge Bell did not preside over the capital trial.

To address the second argument first, since Rodgers' motion to disqualify was, in effect, ultimately granted as to the capital trial, Judge Bell's denial of that motion - even if erroneous - entitles Rodgers to no relief. As to this case, Rodgers obtained precisely the relief he asked for, which was that Judge Bell be removed and that the trial be presided over by a new judge.

As to the validity of the Smitherman conviction, the State would note that, by order dated October 9, 2002, this Court denied Rodgers' motion to consolidate the two appeals. That being the case, Rodgers may not argue here that his noncapital

-68-

conviction in the Smitherman case should be reversed on the ground that Judge Bell erroneously denied his motion to disqualify. Rodgers will have his opportunity to argue *that* issue to the First District Court of Appeal, and the State will vigorously oppose it, because the State is convinced that Judge Bell properly denied the motion to disqualify him.<sup>45</sup> Moreover,

<sup>45</sup> See, e.g., <u>Liteky v. United States</u>, 510 U.S. 540 (1994):

[J]udicial rulings alone almost never constitute a valid basis for a bias or partiality motion. [Cit.] In and of themselves (i.e., apart from surrounding accompanying opinion), comments or they cannot possibly show reliance upon an extrajudicial source; and can only in the rarest circumstances evidence the degree of favoritism or antagonism required (as discussed below) when no extrajudicial source is involved. Almost invariably, they are proper grounds for appeal, not for recusal. Second, opinions formed by the judge on the basis of facts introduced or events occurring in the course of the current proceedings, or of prior proceedings, do not constitute a basis for a bias or partiality motion unless they display a deep-seated favoritism or antagonism that would make fair judgment impossible. Thus, judicial remarks during the course of a trial that are critical or disapproving of, or even hostile to, counsel, the parties, or their cases, ordinarily do not support a bias or partiality challenge. They may do so if they reveal an opinion that derives from an extrajudicial source; and they will do so if they reveal such a high degree of favoritism or antagonism as to make fair judgment impossible. An example of the latter (and perhaps of the former as well) is the statement that was alleged to have been made by the District Judge in Berger v. United States, 255 U.S. 22 World War I espionage case (1921), а aqainst German-American defendants: "One must have a very judicial mind, indeed, not [to be] prejudiced against the German Americans" because their "hearts are

regardless of the ultimate outcome of that appeal, at this juncture, the Smitherman conviction is a valid judgment and properly supports Rodgers' death sentence in this case.<sup>46</sup>

Finally, the prior violent felony aggravator was supported not only by the conviction for the Smitherman attempted murder, but also by the more serious conviction for the murder of Justin Livingston. Thus, the prior violent felony aggravator was properly found with or without the Smitherman attempted murder conviction, and any possible error as to that conviction would be harmless. Rodgers is entitled to no relief on this issue.

### ISSUE VII

### THE RING V. ARIZONA ISSUE

reeking with disloyalty." Id., at 28 (internal quotation marks omitted). Not establishing bias or partiality, however, are expressions of impatience, dissatisfaction, annoyance, and even anger, that are within the bounds of what imperfect men and women, even after having been confirmed as federal judges, sometimes display. A judge's ordinary efforts at administration courtroom - even а stern and short-tempered judge's ordinary efforts at courtroom administration - remain immune.

<sup>46</sup> The State would note that the record in this case does not completely reflect the circumstances underlying the ruling on the Writ of Prohibition by the First District Court of Appeal because it does not contain the State's response to the writ. The State does not think that the district court's ruling is germane to this appeal. Should this Court conclude otherwise, however, the State would ask for the opportunity to supplement the record with the response that it filed in the district court. Rodgers contends that Florida's capital sentencing procedures are constitutionally inadequate, citing <u>Ring v.</u> <u>Arizona</u>, 122 S.Ct. 2428 (2002). This issue is both unpreserved and meritless.

It is unpreserved because Rodgers failed to raise below the argument he makes here, which is that Florida's capital sentencing procedures are unconstitutional because they allow the "existence vel non of aggravating circumstances [to] be determined by the judge wholly independent of the jury's sentencing recommendation." Initial Brief of Appellant at 99. Further, he has failed to proffer any legally sufficient excuse for his failure to raise it at trial.

There is no issue of the retroactivity of <u>Ring</u> to this case, which obviously is not yet final on direct appeal. See <u>Griffith</u> <u>v. Kentucky</u>, 479 U.S. 314 (1987) (new rules are applied retroactively to all cases pending on direct review at the time of the new decision). That does not mean, however, that Rodgers is relieved of his burden to raise the issue at the proper time. Retroactivity and preservation are separate issues; one does not resolve the other:

Retroactivity doctrine answers the question of which cases a new decision applies to, assuming that the issue involving that new decision has been timely raised and preserved. Procedural bar doctrine answers the question of whether an issue was timely raised and

-71-

preserved, and if not, whether it should be decided anyway.

<u>U.S. v. Ardley</u>, 273 F.3d 991, 992 (11<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2001)(Carnes, J., joined by Black, Hull and Marcus, concurring in the denial of Rehearing en Banc).

Under well-settled Florida law, defendants are prohibited from raising claims for the first time on appeal. E.g., <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332, 338 (Fla. 1982). Because Rodgers did not make this claim below, it should not be considered on appeal.

In any event, the issue is meritless. This Court has consistently held that our capital sentencing procedures do not violate <u>Ring</u>. <u>E.g.</u>, <u>Kormondy v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S135, S139 (Fla. April 13, 2003); <u>Doorbal v. State</u>, 28 Fla. L. Weekly S109, S115 (revised opinion)(Fla. January 30, 2003); <u>Anderson v.</u> <u>State</u>, 38 Fla. L. Weekly S51, S57 (Fla. January 16, 2003). Furthermore, one of the aggravators found in this case was that Rodgers had been convicted of two prior violent felonies. This aggravator alone constitutes sufficient basis for denial of relief in light of the "prior-conviction" exception to <u>Ring</u>. <u>Kormondy</u>, <u>supra</u>, Fla. L. Weekly at S139 (Pariente, J., concurring specially).

## ISSUE VIII

## THE ALLEGED "FORCED MEDICATION"

-72-

Here, Rodgers for the first time on appeal claims that his Eighth and Fourteenth Amendment rights were violated when the State "strapped Jeremiah down until he agreed to take psychotropic medications." Initial Brief of Appellant at 100. As support for this claim, he cites the testimony of Dr. Benson from the second competency hearing of April 3, 2000, to the effect that Rodgers had stated that corrections officers had told him, "We'll take the shackles and the belly chain off you if you'll take your medication." Rodgers argues there was "no judicial authority for strapping Jeremiah down for days at a time and then letting him up only if he took medicine, and, without a court's imprimatur, this state action violate the Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments." Initial Brief of Appellant at 100.

Rodgers cites <u>Riggins v. Nevada</u>, 504 U.S. 127 (1992), omitting any discussion of what it says or any attempt to explain why it would support the grant of any relief to Rodgers. Riggins had been prescribed Mellaril while in pre-trial detention to treat him for hearing voices and having trouble sleeping. 504 U.S. at 129. After having been found competent to stand trial, Riggins moved the court for an order suspending the administration of drugs until after his trial was over, contending that the forced medication denied him the ability to

-73-

assist in his defense and prejudicially affected his attitude, appearance and demeanor at trial. The trial court denied the motion. Ultimately, the case went to the United States Supreme Court, which reversed.

The Supreme Court held that "once Riggins moved to terminate administration of antipsychotic medication, the State became obligated to establish the need for Mellaril and the medical appropriateness of the drug." 504 U.S. at 135. The Court noted that the State could "certainly" have satisfied due process by demonstrating "that treatment with antipsychotic medication was medically appropriate and, considering less intrusive alternatives, essential for the sake of Riggins' own safety of the safety of others," and also, "perhaps," by demonstrating that "it could not obtain an adjudication of Riggins' guilt or innocence by less obtrusive means."<sup>47</sup> In <u>Riqqins</u>, however, the prosecution had made neither showing in response to Riggins request to terminate the medication, and, as a consequence, the "record contains no finding that might support a conclusion that administration of antipsychotic medication was necessary to accomplish an essential state policy." Id. at 138.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>47</sup> The Court noted that the "question whether a competent criminal defendant may refuse antipsychotic medication if cessation of medication would render him incompetent at trial is not before us." <u>Ibid</u>.

<u>Riqqins</u> is clearly inapplicable here for several reasons:

First, Rodgers makes no Sixth Amendment argument, but instead asserts a violation of the Eighth Amendment. <u>Riggins</u>, however, deals with the Sixth and Fourteenth Amendments; no Eighth Amendment claim was addressed in <u>Riggins</u>. 504 U.S. at 133-34. Thus, <u>Riggins</u> does not address whatever constitutional claim it is that Rodgers raises here.

Second, Rodgers cites to no portion of the record (and the State is aware of none) demonstrating that he ever moved to terminate the administration of any antipsychotic drugs. The testimony referred to in Rodgers' brief was part of testimony by Dr. Benson during the second competency hearing, in which he was explaining "placebo" effect and also how Rodgers could choose to take medicine as a "bargaining chip" and as a means of controlling his surroundings (21TR 1995-2000).<sup>48</sup> There simply was no issue raised by Rodgers of being "forced" to take antipsychotic medicine. Since the issue was never raised, the State never bore any burden to establish the necessity for forced administration of such drugs, and this issue is not preserved for appeal.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>48</sup> It was noted several times during the proceedings, including by Dr. Benson here, that Rodgers misbehaved while in jail, but was perfectly capable (without the assistance of any drugs) of behaving himself during a trial when a jury was present (21TR 2000). See also fn. 3.

Third, in contrast to <u>Riggins</u>, the record in this case fails to show that Rodgers was "forced" to take (or even voluntarily took) any medicine or drugs whatever *during trial*.

Fourth, although there are various reports throughout the record that Rodgers has been given various medicines or drugs over the years while institutionalized, the portion of the record on which he relies to establish this claim identifies no drug at all. The holding of <u>Riggins</u> is limited to the administration of "antipsychotic medication." 504 U.S. at 138. For all the record shows here, the "medicine" to which Rodgers referred was one of the "less restrictive alternatives," including drugs such as "tranquilizers or sedatives" that are "less controversial" than more the powerful antipsychotics like Mellaril. 504 U.S. at 132 (quoting from <u>United States v.</u> <u>Bryant</u>, 640 F.Supp 840, 843 (Minn. 1987)).

Finally, the testimony relied on fails to establish that Rodgers was ever "forced" to take "medicine" at any time. For one thing, the Dr. Benson's testimony in this regard is multiple hearsay and thus incompetent to establish the factual predicate for Rodgers' claim: Dr. Benson did not testify of his own knowledge, but merely reported what Rodgers had reported to someone (not necessarily Dr. Benson) about what one or more unidentified correctional officers (and not any doctors who

-76-

might have actually prescribed any drugs) had told Rodgers. This testimony is not merely hearsay, it is hearsay on hearsay on hearsay. Moreover, even accepting the statement at face value, it does not show that Rodgers actually took the medicine, or that, even if Rodgers did choose to take any medicine, he was "forced" to do so. Rodgers did not contend below that the restraints were in any way unjustified, and the record is certainly replete with indications that, at various times during his detention, restraints were necessary to protect Rodgers from himself and to protect others from him. Assuming the restraints were necessary, then offering Rodgers a choice between the restraints and medicine can hardly have violated his due process rights.

Rodgers is attempting to raise a claim that was not raised below, and as to which a full record was not developed. He is entitled to no relief on this unpreserved claim.

-77-

#### CONCLUSION

Based upon the foregoing, the judgment below should be affirmed.